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CHAIRMAN LETTER TO THE SHAREHOLDERS
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Dear Shareholders,
2021 was the year of a big change for Youngtimers AG -- being effectively a dormant investment holding for
several years, the Company had changed its name to Youngtimers AG at the AGM held in June 2021, replaced
the board, completed recapitalization through CHF 35 million capital increase in July 2021, moved headquarters
to Basel and acquired Garage Italia Customs S.r.l. as the first steps of its brand new business strategy to service
the world of luxury lifestyle.
The unfortunate political events that followed culminating with the invasion of Ukraine in February of 2022 made
Youngtimers' original business plans irrelevant for today's world - the Company's new large shareholders strongly
felt that at this time the world did not need a new luxury business platform in the middle of Europe as it is being
ravaged by war, economic turmoil, balkanization of global trade and displacement of millions of people.
Hence, we went back to the drawing board and made a lot of changes. The all new Youngtimers remains the
work in progress, but the key areas of focus are already clear now.
First, we'll use our strong balance sheet for short term special situation investments in the business of e-commerce and media, targeting primarily European deals and focusing on the underbanked universe of the
small/mid-cap listed companies. Youngtimers already managed to accomplish the first exit with Pininfarina of
Italy and a partial exit with Talenthouse of Austria, both being profitable trades, with remaining investment in
Talenthouse and several other investments being active today.
Second, while we remain the control shareholder in Garage Italia group originally established by our large shareholder Lapo Elkann, the board unanimously elected not to put further significant capital in the luxury cars vertical
and adjacent businesses and Youngtimers already managed to successfully divest some of the related assets such
as Petrolicious. We have also significantly impaired the value of our remaining assets pertinent to Garage Italia
group to reflect the shift of our strategic focus to other business activities.
Third, Youngtimers AG is proactively looking for new growth opportunities where our capital and ability to add
value and synergize with our tactical investments in Europe can make a difference. The Company's AGM in August is scheduled to amend the company's strategy to reflect the new global markets environment and the new
business opportunities identified by our team and our shareholders, with the new plans to be communicated in
September. In the meantime, tactical special situation minority investments in listed equities and bonds in the
broadly defined media and ecommerce sectors remain Youngtimers' primary business and generate sufficient
cash flows to sustain our operations.
As the world has changed dramatically in the first half of 2022, Youngtimers is quickly adopting and building the
socially responsible sustainable investment and education business of the future. I am confident that thanks to
extraordinary support of our shareholders and committed leadership, Youngtimers will be able to deliver and
execute on a very strong investment case in the near future, with our balance sheet shored up for any turbulences and our focus being squarely on special situation investments in the broadly defined media and e-commerce space.
Stay tuned,
Massimiliano Iuliano
Chairman of the Board of Directors
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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General information
The Company’s corporate governance principles are laid out in the Articles of Incorporation (the “Articles”), in
the Organizational Rules adopted by the Board of Directors (alternatively, the “Board”) and in a set of other
Group directives, including the Internal Control System (the “ICS”).
Further information disclosed below conforms to the Directive on Information Relating to Corporate Governance
issued by the SIX Swiss Exchange; the information refers to 31 December 2021, unless otherwise indicated. To
avoid redundancies, references are inserted to other parts of this Annual Report and links to Youngtimers AG’s
website http://www.youngtimers.com/ that could provide additional, more detailed information.

1.

Group structure and shareholders

Group structure
Youngtimers AG (“the Company”) was incorporated in Switzerland as a Swiss limited company on 17 December
1998 and was relaunched into a new equity story at the Company’s Annual General Meeting on 30 June 2021
that voted to transform a 23-years old passive listed investment holding company (earlier known as 5EL SA and
The Native SA) into an international investment Company specialized on media and creative industries and organized into two business units – Youngtimers Media (that includes brands like Petrolicious and Garage Italia) and
Youngtimers Finance. The Company has its corporate legal headquarter at Elisabethenstrasse 18, 4051 Basel,
Switzerland.
Youngtimers AG is listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange, SIX Swiss Reporting Standard. The Company is listed under
the symbol “YTME”. The ISIN code is CH0006326851. The market capitalization (after the capital increase conducted through private placement of 21 July 2021) as of 31 December 2021 amounts to CHF 88.7 million (31
December 2020: CHF 6 million).
As of 31 December 2021, the Company had 100% owned subsidiary Youngtimers Asset Company AG established
to conduct investment activities of Youngtimers Group, and as of the same date Youngtimers Asset Company AG
held 100% ownership interest in Youngtimers Media LLC, US and 70% ownership interest in Garage Italia Customs
S.r.l., a Milan-based operating business servicing high end car collectors.
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Significant shareholders
According to SIX Swiss Exchange notifications, significant shareholders as of 31 December 2021 are:
Ownership Interest
HLEE Finance S.à r.l.
L. Holding S.r.l.
Good Cause Capital SA
Digital Investment Platform S.à r.l.
Adam Lindemann

23.68%
23.04%
21.81%
10.83%
5.00%

The Company holds directly and indirectly 2.91% of its own share capital (treasury shares) and a share of 82.93%
of the total number of shares outstanding is held in a lock-up group until 31 December 2022.
Past and current notifications regarding the Company’s shareholding can be found on the website of SIX Exchange Regulation at: https://www.ser-ag.com/en/resources/notifications-market-participants/official-notices.html#/.

Cross investments
There are no cross investments with other Group companies.

2.

Capital structure

Ordinary share capital as of 31 December 2021

CHF

26'045'697.72

Share capital
As of 31 December 2021, the share capital amounts to CHF 26'045'697.72, consisting of 62'013'566 bearer shares
with a nominal value of CHF 0.42 each. Each share has one voting right and is fully entitled to dividends. The
shares are fully paid in.

Capital Increase 30 June 2021
At the Annual General Meeting of 30 June 2021, the Shareholders accepted the motion of the Board of Directors
and voted in favor of an increase of the current share capital of the Company of CHF 5'045'697.72 by a minimum
of CHF 12'000'000.18 and a maximum of CHF 24'000'000.36 to a maximum of new CHF 29'045'698.08 by issuance
of a minimum of 28'571'429 and a maximum of 57'142'858 new bearer shares with a nominal value of CHF 0.42
each and to cancel the subscription rights of the Shareholders, as the capital increase was to enable the acquisition of companies or parts thereof (article 652b Swiss Code of Obligations), and let the Board of Directors in its
sole discretion allocate to third parties the subscription rights.
The capital increase was subscribed through a Private Placement by a small number of private investors.
Subsequent the Annual General Meeting the Board of Directors has carried out the capital increase in an amount
of CHF 21'000'000 corresponding to 50'000'000 new bearer shares at CHF 0.42 each.

7

Treasury shares
As of 31 December 2021, Youngtimers AG owns 4’253 of its own shares. Further information can be found in
Note 17 of the financial statements.

Shares and participation certificates
All shares of the Company are bearer shares with a nominal value of CHF 0.42 each. The Company has one single
class of shares. Each bearer share carries one vote at the shareholders' meeting. Each shareholder with voting
rights may be represented at the General Meeting by the independent representative or a third party. Shareholders have the right to receive dividends decided by the shareholders' meeting and have all other rights provided for by the Swiss Code of Obligations.

Profit sharing certificates
The Company has not issued any preferred voting shares or non-voting equity securities, such as participation
certificates or profit sharing/bonus certificates.

Limitations on transferability and nominee registrations
Being issued to the bearer, the shares of the Company can be transferred without restrictions.

Option rights
No option has currently been issued under any share option plan.

3.

The Board of Directors

As of 31 December 2021, the Board of Directors was composed by:

Adam Lindemann
Clive Ng
Massimiliano Iuliano
Lorenzo Landini
Victor Iezuitov
Svetlana Klochko

Chairman
Vice Chairman
Delegate
Member
Member
Member

First Election date
June 2021
June 2021
June 2021
December 2021
June 2019
December 2021

Last election date
June 2021
June 2021
June 2021
December 2021
December 2021
December 2021

Next re-election date
Resigned 15 March 2022
Resigned 15 March 2022
AGM 2022
AGM 2022
AGM 2022
AGM 2022

A brief biography of the members is given here below.
The following sets forth the name, year of assuming office on the Board of Directors, position and committee
memberships of each member of the Board of Directors (alternatively, the “Directors”).
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Members of the Board of Directors
Adam Lindemann, US citizen
Chairman, Member of the Compensation Committee, Board member since 30 June 2021 (resigned on 15 March
2022)
Mr. Adam Lindemann is a graduate of the Yale Law School (J.D.), Amherst College and passed the French Baccalaureate after attending the Lycée Français de New York. He is best known as a tastemaker in collecting and
investing in contemporary art and classic cars. He founded Venus Over Manhattan, the influential gallery devoted to iconoclastic exhibitions of art and cars. Lindemann has been active in the car collecting and classic
racing and Motorsport world.

Clive Ng, Malaysian citizen
Vice Chairman, Chairman of the Compensation Committee, Board member since 30 June 2021 (resigned on 15
March 2022)
Mr. Clive Ng is a media sector financier with over 20 years of strategic and management experience in the Asia
markets. Mr. Ng was CEO of Pacific Media where he was instrumental in holding joint venture partnerships
between Pacific Media and United Artists Theatres, renamed Regal Entertainment Group, and Television Broadcasts (TVB) of Hong Kong. Mr. Ng has had extensive experience with internet start-ups and e-commerce companies in Asia.

Massimiliano Iuliano, Italian citizen
Delegate, Board member since 30 June 2021
Mr. Massimiliano Iuliano holds a Master of Science in Economics degree and brings 20 years of experience in
the corporate finance, internal audit, corporate governance, investor relations and international sports sectors.
After five years as Senior Internal Auditor, he moved to Highlight Communications AG, a Swiss based company
listed on the German stock exchange as Head Internal Audit. During the 12 years with the media group, which
focuses on sports, events, entertainment, and film, he moved from internal audit to various executive functions
within the group in the areas of corporate finance/governance, investor relations and event/sports management. In 2019 he left the company to start his own business as a corporate advisor and sports consultant.

Lorenzo Landini, Italian citizen
Board member since 20 December 2021
Mr. Lorenzo Landini has extensive experience with start-ups and emerging engineering companies, with 20
years’ experience of strategic development in Asian markets. He started his longstanding experience in the
automotive sector as co-founder of Garage Italia Customs (Milan, Italy) and since 2020 he is CEO of Fondazione
LAPS. He is owner of LLandini, holding and consulting company supporting innovative start-ups providing expertise from the early stage to the development phase. He is also currently CEO of Garage Italia Immobiliare &
FB Garage Italia, in charge of the re-launch of the property as a hub for events and entertainment mostly targeting motor enthusiasts.

9

Victor Iezuitov, Russian citizen
Board member since 20 December 2021
Mr. Victor Iezuitov brings on board 15+ experience in international business, corporate finance and e-commerce. Born in Russia in 1981, a Swiss resident, graduated in 2003 from Moscow State Linguistic University. He
holds an Executive master’s degree in Management from a joint program at BI Norwegian Business School, IFP
Energies Nouvelles Paris and UC Berkeley “Center for Executive Education”. He is currently Chief Executive Officer at Nexway – a leading e-commerce company based in Paris, France.

Svetlana Klochko, Grenadian citizen
Board member since 20 December 2021
Ms. Svetlana Klochko brings 25 years of experience in corporate banking. She holds a Master in Finance degree
from the George Washington university, Washington DC, USA. She started her career with JPMorgan before
she moved to Standard Bank International in position of Risk head and Management board member for Russia
and CIS operation, overlooking the risk function encompassing credit, market and operational risk. She then
moved to the business side and served as Head of corporate banking for Citi in Russia. She led the coverage
team responsible for transactional, lending, capital markets and global markets businesses, as well as contributes to the franchise governance in her role of Management board member.

Elections and terms of office
The Articles of Association provide for a Board of Directors consisting of one or more members. Directors are
appointed and removed by shareholders’ resolution.
Their term of office is one year. Re-election is allowed. The Chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”) and the
compensation committee members are currently appointed by the general shareholders’ meeting.
The Directors are elected or re-elected individually for a one-year term.
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Name

Adam Lindemann

Clive NG

Massimiliano Iuliano

Since
Term

30 June 2021
Elected at the annual gen-

30 June 2021
Elected at the annual gen-

30 June 2021
Elected at the annual gen-

eral shareholders’ meeting

eral shareholders’ meeting

eral shareholders’ meeting

on 30 June 2021 for one
year until the AGM of

on 30 June 2021 for one
year until the AGM of

on 30 June 2021 for one
year until the AGM of

2022, respectively; resigned as of 15 March 2022

2022, respectively; resigned as of 15 March 2022

2022, respectively

Name

Lorenzo Landini

Victor Iezuitov

Svetlana Klochko

Since

20 December 2021

20 December 2021

20 December 2021

Term

Elected at the extraordi-

Elected at the extraordi-

Elected at the extraordi-

nary general shareholders’
meeting on 20 December

nary general shareholders’
meeting on 20 December

nary general shareholders’
meeting on 20 December

2021 until the AGM of
2022

2021 until the AGM of
2022

2021 until the AGM of
2022

Internal organizational structure
The Board of Directors is (except for the Chairman and the Compensation Committee, who are directly elected
by the shareholders’ meeting) self-constituting and designates its own members and secretary. The latter does
not need to be a member of the Board. The Chairman convenes the Board as often as the Company’s affairs
require and presides (or in his absence another Director specifically designated by the majority of the Directors
present at the meeting) over the Board meetings.
The Chairman decides on agenda items and motions. Every Director shall be entitled to request from the Chairman, in writing, a meeting of the Board, by indicating the grounds for such a request.
To pass a valid resolution, the majority of the members of the Board have to attend the meeting. Meetings may
also be held by telephone conference to which all the Directors are invited. The Board of Directors passes its
resolutions by way of simple majority. The members of the Board may only vote in person, not by proxy. Decisions can also be taken in writing, upon written proposal. In the event of a tied vote, the vote of the Chairman
(or the chairperson) shall be decisive. Minutes are kept of resolutions and are signed by the Chairman and the
Secretary.
As of 30 June 2021, Mr. Adam Lindemann has been appointed as Chairman of the Board of Directors. He is in
charge of calling for and leading the meetings of the Board of Directors.
Out of the Board, the AGM of 30 June 2021 has elected a Compensation Committee, composed by Messrs. Clive
Ng and Adam Lindemann. Each member of the committee is elected for a one-year term.
The Compensation Committee assists the Board of Directors in establishing and periodically reviewing the Company’s compensation strategy and guidelines as well as in preparing the proposals to the General Meeting regarding the compensation of the members of the Board of Directors.
The Board of Directors met 12 times during the year 2021.
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Definition of areas of responsibility
The Board is entrusted with the ultimate direction of the Company (art. 716a Code of Obligations).
The Board assumes certain obligations that cannot be transferred: (i) ultimately manage the Company and issue
any necessary directives; (ii) determine the organizational structure of the Company; (iii) organize the accounting
system, the financial control and the financial planning; (iv) appoint, recall and ultimately supervise the persons
entrusted with the management and representation of the Company; (v) prepare the annual report and the
shareholders’ meeting, carrying out shareholders’ meeting resolutions; and (vi) notify to the judge in case of over
indebtedness of the Company.
In accordance with the Articles, the Board of Directors is responsible for the daily management of the Company.
Since June 2021 all the Company’s operations are managed directly by the Board of Directors.

Other mandates of the members of the Board of Directors
No member of the Board of Directors can hold more than 15 additional mandates in non-public companies. The
number of additional mandates is limited to 5 in public companies and mandates in associations and foundations.
The mandates held at the request of the Company do not fall within the scope of this limitation.
No member of the current Board of Directors of the Company holds any mandates exceeding the above limits.

4.

Compensation, shareholdings and loans

Content and method of determining compensation and the shareholding programs
Compensation of the members of the Board of Directors comprises fixed compensation elements, as well as a
possible variable remuneration element. At the AGM held on 30 June 2021, the shareholders approved that the
members of the Board of Directors receive up to CHF 200’000 in total as a fixed compensation and the members
of the Executive Management Team up to CHF 300’000 in total, plus refund of expenses. The members of the
Board of Directors receive a variable amount up to a maximum of CHF 200’000 in total and the members of the
Executive Management Team up to a maximum of CHF 150’000 in total, depending on the results of the business,
according to a scheme to be defined. The compensation committee shall be authorized to set up a stock option
scheme for the benefit of the members of the Board of Directors and the members of the Executive Management
Team.

Compensation disclosures
The compensation of the Board of Directors is detailed under section 4 of the Remuneration Report.

Allocations of shares in the reporting period
The Company did not allocate any shares during the reporting period.

Options
As mentioned above, no option plan has currently been issued under any share option plan.
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Share ownership
Mr. Adam Lindemann, Chairman, holds 5.00% of the Company.
Clive Ng, Vice Chairman, indirectly holds 23.68% of the Company
As of 31 December 2020, Mr. Patrick Girod, Director, held 0.49% of the Company.
As of 31 December 2020, Mr. Victor Iezuitov, Director, held 8.82% of the Company.

Additional honorarium and remuneration
The additional honorarium and remuneration of the Board of Directors and the Executive Management Team
are disclosed under section 4 of the Remuneration report.

Loans and credits granted to governing bodies
There are no loans granted to members of the Board of Directors and Executive Management Team.
There are no guarantees issued or assumed for any members or former members of the Board of Directors
and/or Executive Management Team.

5.

Voting rights and participation at shareholders’ meetings

Voting rights and representation restrictions
There are no restrictions regarding voting rights, no statutory Group clauses and hence no rules for making exceptions. Consequently, there is neither a procedure nor a condition for their cancellation. A shareholder may
be represented by his legal representative, the independent proxy or by another shareholder.

Statutory quorums
The Articles of the Company do not provide for any specific majority requirements, in addition to those of the
law.

Convening of the general meeting of shareholders
The Articles of the Company do not differ from the law regarding the convening of a shareholders meeting.

Agenda
The Articles of the Company do not contain any obligations regarding the agenda differing from the law. Specifically, there are no additional requirements regarding notice periods or deadlines to be respected.

Inscriptions into the share register
The Company has bearer shares outstanding.

6.

Changes of control and defence measures
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Duty to make an offer
There are no opting-up or opting-out clauses in the Articles.

Clauses on changes of control
There are no clauses of changes of control contained in any agreements or similar documents.

7.

Auditors

Duration of the mandate and term of office of the lead auditor
On 30 June 2021, the Ordinary Shareholders General Meeting appointed Berney Associés Audit SA, Lausanne, as
auditors of Youngtimers AG and as auditors of the consolidated financial statements of the Youngtimers Group.
The audit report is signed jointly by two representatives of Berney Associés Audit SA. Mr. Claude Heri, in his
capacity as auditor in charge, signs the auditors’ reports for Youngtimers AG.

Auditing fees
The total audit fees for the audit of financial year 2021 amount to CHF 131’000.

Additional fees
Besides the audit fees, additional fees were paid to Berney Associés SA, Lausanne in relation to various issues
during 2021 for a total amount of CHF 6’100.

Informational instruments pertaining to external audit
The auditor also issues a comprehensive report to the Board of Directors, in addition to the reports to the General
Meeting.
In 2021, there have been several meetings between members of the Board of Directors and the auditors in connection with the audit of the financial statements as well as with the Capital Increase held in June 2021.

Information policy
The Company provides the following information to the shareholders:
Ordinary Shareholders General Meeting
Interim report

End of August 2022 (Date to be confirmed)
30 September 2022 (www.youngtimers.com)

Press information

When appropriate (electronically, with newsletter
which can be subscribed to on the Company’s website)

Company information
Investor Relations

www.youngtimers.com
Massimiliano Iuliano, Youngtimers AG
Elisabethenstrasse 18, 4051 Basel, Switzerland
Tel + 41 61 563 10 72
E-Mail: ir@youngtimers.com
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REMUNERATION REPORT
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1.

Introduction

The remuneration report contains information about the principles of remuneration, procedures for determining
remuneration and components of compensation for the Board of Directors and the Executive Management Team of
Youngtimers AG. It is based on the provisions of the Articles of Incorporation, the transparency requirements set out
in Article 663b bis and Article 663c of the Swiss Code of Obligations, Articles 13-16 and Article 20 of the Swiss Ordinance against Excessive Remuneration at Listed Companies (OaEC), the SIX Swiss Exchange Directive on Information
relating to Corporate Governance and the Swiss Code of Best Practice for Corporate Governance drawn up by Economie Suisse.

2.

Compensation policy

Compensation to members of the Board of Directors and to members of the Executive Management Team should
conform to market conditions, correspond appropriately to performance and responsibility, and correlate to the size
and to the complexity of the Group and its businesses.
The compensation of the Board of Directors and the Executive Management Team is subject to review on an annual
basis in compliance with the Group’s strategic and operating targets.

3.

Principles, elements, authority and determination of compensation

Elements of the compensation of the Board of Directors and Executive Management Team
Members of the Board of Directors and Executive Management Team receive a fixed and a variable compensation.
Fixed compensation includes remuneration for the activities of members of the Board of Directors and of the Executive Management Team of Youngtimers AG.
Variable compensation depends on the results of the business, according to a scheme to be defined by the Compensation Committee.
They can also receive share options for the benefit of Directors, fellow employees and advisors.
No compensation was recognized to persons other than those disclosed in table included in section 4 “Compensation
to the Board of Directors and Executive Management Team”.

Lump sum expense allowance to members of the Board of Directors and Executive
Management Team
The Chairman and the other members of the Board of Directors and of the Executive Management Team do not
receive any lump-sum expense allowance.
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Authority and determination of compensation
On 30 June 2021, at the Annual General Meeting, Messrs Adam Lindemann and Clive Ng were elected as members
of the Compensation Committee for a one-year term. The Compensation Committee prepares the recommendations, which will be submitted to the Annual General Meeting for approval and oversees the implementation of the
compensation policy for the Company.
At the 2021 Annual General Meeting the shareholders approved:
1.

A total compensation to the members of the Board of Directors for the period from the Annual General
Meeting 2021 to the Annual General Meeting 2022, of a maximum amount of CHF 200’000 as fixed amount,
plus refund of expenses, and up to a maximum amount of CHF 200’000 as variable amount depending on
the results of the business, according to a scheme to be defined.

2.

A total compensation to the members of the Executive Management Team for the period from the Annual
General Meeting 2021 to the Annual General Meeting 2022, of a maximum amount of CHF 300’000 as fixed
amount, plus refund of expenses, and up to a maximum amount of CHF 150’000 as variable amount depending on the results of the business, according to a scheme to be defined.

3.

A stock option scheme, to be set up, for the benefit of the members of the Board of Directors and the
members of the Executive Management Team.
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4.

Compensation to the Board of Directors and Executive Management Team

31 December 2021
In TCHF
Members of the Board of
Directors and Executive
Management Team of
Youngtimers AG
Function

Board of Directors
compensation (i)

Executive
Management Team
compensation(ii)

Other

Total

Patrick Girod

Chairman of the Board of
Directors (until 30 June 2021)

50

0

0

50

Victor Iezuitov

Member of the Board of
Directors (until 30 June 2021)

35

0

0

35

Massimiliano Iuliano

Delegate of the Board of
Directors (from 30 June 2021)

0

104

0

104

Total

85

104

-

189

31 December 2020
In TCHF
Members of the Board of
Directors and Executive
Management Team of
Youngtimers AG
Function

Board of Directors
compensation (i)

Executive
Management Team
compensation(ii)

Other

Total

Patrick Girod

Chairman of the Board of
Directors

115

0

0

115

Victor Iezuitov

Member of the Board of
Directors

70

0

0

70

Total

185

-

-

185

(i) Gross fixed compensation to the members of the Board of Directors.
(ii) Gross fixed compensation and fringe benefits to the members of the Executive Management Team. The
remuneration of Mr Massimiliano Iuliano has been considered since the acquisition of Youngtimers Asset
Company AG (1 September 2021).

5.

Shareholdings and loans granted to members of the Board of Directors and to members of the Executive Management Team

Shareholdings
Mr. Adam Lindemann, Chairman of the Board of Directors, holds 5.00% of the Company.
Mr. Clive Ng, Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors, indirectly holds 23.68% of the Company.
As of 31 December 2020, Mr. Patrick Girod, Director, held 0.49% of the Company.
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As of 31 December 2020, Mr. Victor Iezuitov, Director, held 8.82% of the Company.
No options have currently been issued to any member of the Board of Directors or to any member of the Executive
Management Team under any share option plan.

Loans and credits granted to governing bodies
There are no loans granted to members of the Board of Directors and/or to members of the Executive Management
Team.
There are no guarantees issued or assumed for any members or former members of the Board of Directors and/or
for any members of the Executive Management Team.
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REPORT OF THE STATUTORY AUDITOR ON THE REMUNERATION REPORT TO
THE GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
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Lausanne, July 29, 2022

We have audited the remuneration report of Youngtimers AG for the year ended
31 December 2021. The audit was limited to the information according to articles 14 – 16
of the Ordinance against Excessive Compensation in Stock Exchange Listed Companies
(Ordinance) contained in the sections 4 to 5 of the remuneration report.
Board of Directors’ responsibility
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and overall fair presentation of
the remuneration report in accordance with Swiss law and the Ordinance against
Excessive Compensation in Stock Exchange Listed Companies (Ordinance). The Board of
Directors is also responsible for designing the remuneration system and defining
individual remuneration packages.
Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the accompanying remuneration report. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss Auditing Standards. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the remuneration report complies with Swiss
law and articles 14–16 of the Ordinance.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence on the disclosures
made in the remuneration report with regard to compensation, loans and credits in
accordance with articles 14–16 of the Ordinance. The procedures selected depend on
the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatements in
the remuneration report, whether due to fraud or error. This audit also includes
evaluating the reasonableness of the methods applied to value components of
remuneration, as well as assessing the overall presentation of the remuneration report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the remuneration report for the year ended 31 December 2021 of
Youngtimers AG complies with Swiss law and articles 14–16 of the Ordinance.
Berney Associés Audit SA

Claude HERI

Licensed Audit Expert
Auditor in charge

Marina CHRISTE
Licensed Audit Expert
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
(in thousands of Swiss Francs)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET (1/2)
(in thousands of Swiss Francs)

As of 31 December 2021

31 Dec 2021
TCHF

31 Dec 2020
TCHF

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade receivables, net
Other current receivables, net
Inventories
Prepaid expenses
Total current assets

7 955
592
1 172
182
114
10 015

180
16
59
255

14
11

75
13 868

6 489

15
16

844
4 762
19 549

6 489

29 564

6 744

10
10

Non-current assets
Tangible assets
Financial assets, net
Intangible assets
Goodwill
Total non-current assets
Total assets
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET (2/2)
(in thousands of Swiss Francs)

As of 31 December 2021

31 Dec 2021
TCHF

31 Dec 2020
TCHF

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities
Trade payables
Other current liabilities
Accrued expenses
Total current liabilities
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Non-current liabilities
Non-current financial liabilities
Total non-current liabilities
Equity
Share capital
Reserves from capital contributions
Treasury shares
Currency translation differences
Profit carried forward
Net result
Total equity attributable to Owners of the Company
Minority interests
Total equity
Total liabilities and equity
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456
1 749
641
2 846

277
48
335
660

13

-

937
937

17
17
17

26 046
12 601
(2 055)
(97)
212
(10 767)
25 940
778
26 718

5 046
(90)
(21)
103
109
5 147

29 564

6 744

5 147

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
(in thousands Swiss Francs)
As of 31 December 2021
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT (1/2)
(in thousands of Swiss Francs)
As of 31 December 2021
31.12.2021

31.12.2020

in TCHF
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash receipts from customers and third parties
Payments to suppliers

1 890
-272
-458
-1 662

54
-183

Cash generated from operations

-501
-51
-

-219
10

Operative cash flow

-553

-209

-3 438
3 000
-1 502
-19 418
4 889
427

337

-16 041

337

33 691
-2 034
-10 055

-

21 602

-

Payments to employees

Payments for general administrative costs
Interest paid
Taxes received/paid

-91

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of consolidated entities
Sales of consolidated entities
Purchase of intangible assets
Increase of long term other financial fixed assets
Decrease of long term other financial fixed assets
Financial interest received
Investing cash flow
CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Capital/Agio increase
Purchase of own shares
Increase/decrease of long tem loans
Financing cash flow
Effect of foreign exchange rate variation
Increase in cash and cash equivalents

-292

-7

4 716

121

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR

3 239

59

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT AT THE END OF THE YEAR

7 955

180

4 716

121

27

CASH FLOW STATEMENT (2/2)
(in thousands of Swiss Francs)
As of 31 December 2021
Reconciliation Consolidated Cash Flow statement for Youngtimers AG
Closing year

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

in TCHF
Operative Cash-flow
Non cash variations in trade and other receivables
Non cash variations in accrued income and prepaid expenses
Non cash variations in trade and other payables
Non cash variations in accrued expenses
Interests
Exchange difference
Others
Depreciation and amortization
Increase/Decrease provisions
Net result
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-501

-219

116
30
-150
-9
288
-28
-31
-10 452
-10 737

-303
28
547
62
-106
-152
2
250
109

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(in thousands of Swiss Francs)

1. GENERAL INFORMATION
Youngtimers AG (“the Company”) was incorporated in Switzerland as a Swiss limited company on 17 December 1998
and was relaunched into a new equity story at the Company’s Annual General Meeting on 30 June 2021 that voted
to transform a 23-years old passive listed investment holding company (earlier known as 5EL SA and The Native SA)
into an international investment Company specialized on media and creative industries and organized into two business units – Youngtimers Media (that includes brands like Petrolicious and Garage Italia) and Youngtimers Finance.
The Company has its corporate legal headquarter at Elisabethenstrasse 18, 4051 Basel, Switzerland.
Youngtimers AG is listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange, SIX Swiss Reporting Standard. The Company is listed under the
symbol “YTME”. The ISIN code is CH0006326851. The market capitalization (after the capital increase conducted
through private placement of 21 July 2021) as of 31 December 2021 amounts to TCHF 88’700 (on 31 December 2020:
TCHF 6’000).
Company

Youngtimers Asset
Company AG

Registered
office

Basel

Country

Currency

Share capital

Entry
perimeter
2021

Exit
perimeter
2021

Consolidation
method

Ownership
Voting rights
Interest

Switzerland

CHF

1 000 000

31.Aug

-

GI

100%

100%

Garage Italia Customs
S.r.l.
Milan

Italy

EUR

1 200 000

31.Aug

-

GI

70%

70%

Youngtimers Media
LLC

USA

USD

100

31.Aug

-

GI

100%

100%

New York

As of 31 December 2021, the Company had 100% owned subsidiary Youngtimers Asset Company AG established to
conduct investment activities of Youngtimers Group, and as of the same date Youngtimers Asset Company AG held
100% ownership interest in Youngtimers Media LLC, US and 70% ownership interest in Garage Italia Customs S.r.l.,
a Milan-based operating business servicing high end car collectors.
These consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorized for issue on 29
July 2021. They are subject to approval of the shareholders’ General Meeting to be held before 31 August 2021.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
This section describes the basis of preparation of the consolidated financial statements and the Group’s accounting
policies that are applicable to the financial statements as a whole. This section also explains the new accounting
principles that the Group has adopted in the current financial year.

Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the entire existing accounting principles of Swiss GAAP FER (Generally Accepted Accounting Principles FER) and are based upon the financial statements
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of the Group companies as of 31 December 2021 which are prepared using uniform classification and accounting
policies. Accounting policies have been consistently applied to all years presented, unless otherwise stated.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the historical acquisition costs principle, except for items to be recorded at fair value.

Presentation currency
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Swiss Francs (CHF), which is the Company’s functional
currency. All amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of Youngtimers AG and its subsidiaries.
The subsidiaries are those companies which the parent Company, directly or indirectly, controls either by holding
more than 50% of the voting rights or by otherwise having the power to govern their operating and financial policies.
The control is effective when Youngtimers AG is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the subsidiary and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the subsidiary to direct the relevant
activities. These subsidiaries are fully consolidated. Group companies are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group, while subsidiaries intended for disposal are excluded from the consolidation from
the date on which control ceases.
Upon the loss of control, the Group derecognizes the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, any non-controlling
interests and the other components of equity related to the subsidiary. Any surplus or deficit arising on the loss of
control is recognized in the income statement.
Investments in non-consolidated companies, i.e. with an ownership percentage of interest lower than 20%, are
stated at acquisition cost less any necessary allowance for impairment.

Non-controlling interests
Non-controlling interests are presented separately in the consolidated balance sheet and the consolidated income
statement but as a component of consolidated equity and consolidated net result.

Business combinations
Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the purchase method. The consideration paid
plus directly attributable transaction costs for each acquisition are eliminated at the date of acquisition against the
fair value of the net assets acquired, determined based on uniform accounting policies. The positive difference between the acquisition costs and the proportional revalued net assets is referred to as goodwill. Any negative difference between the acquisition costs and the proportional revalued net assets (“bargain”) is referred to as a badwill
and recognized directly as an increase in equity. Within the scope of acquisitions, potentially existing but until now
not capitalized intangible assets such as brand names, distribution channels, customers list and technologies are not
recognized separately but instead remain part of goodwill. Goodwill may also arise from investments in associated
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companies and is defined as the difference between the acquisition costs of the investment and its proportional
revalued net assets.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from internal transactions,
are eliminated.

Foreign currencies
Foreign currency transactions
In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s
functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognized at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At each balance sheet date, all items denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates prevailing
on the balance sheet date. Gains and losses from foreign currency balances and from translating year-end foreign
currency balances are recognized in the income statement.

Financial statements of foreign operations
For the purpose of preparing consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are translated into CHF using exchange rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Income, expense and
cash flow items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period. The exchange differences arising on
translation for consolidation are recognized in equity. At the date of sale of a foreign subsidiary, the respective cumulative foreign currency translation adjustments are recognized in the income statement.
Fair value adjustments on identifiable assets and liabilities acquired arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing on the
balance sheet date. Exchange differences arising are recognized in equity.
The following exchange rates were used for currency translation:
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Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the Group Executive
Board. This Board is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segment. This
Board reviews the Group’s internal reporting in order to assess performance and allocate resources. Internal reporting is based on the same accounting principles as the ones used to establish these financial statements and segment
performance is assessed based on the earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA).
Group financing (including financial expenses and financial income) and income taxes are managed on a Group basis
and are not allocated to operating segments.
Youngtimers AG and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) are involved in three reportable business segments, as follows:
•

•
•

Automotive, a suite of services for the bespoke customization, electrification and restomod of classic and
collectible cars
Media, the long-established media distribution, and consulting services based in Italy and in the US
Financing, investment in special situations and interest-bearing bonds and other securities

Revenue recognition
Revenue from the sale of goods and services is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable,
net of returns, trade discounts, rebates and other sales taxes or duty. The Group recognizes revenue when the
amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the Group and
when specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s activities as described below.
Revenue from services rendered include various services. Sales of services are recognized as revenue in the accounting period in which the services are rendered, which means that they are allocated over the contractual period.

Employee benefits
Pension obligations
The Group operates various employee benefits plans in and outside of Switzerland. The pension and retirement
benefits are based on the regulations and practices in the respective countries. Plans are generally funded through
payments to insurance companies/funds or to state social security. An economical obligation or a benefit from Swiss
pension schemes is determined from the financial statements of such pension schemes prepared in accordance with
Swiss GAAP FER 26 “Accounting of Pension Plans” and recognized in the balance sheet accordingly. As of 31 December 2021, there was one employee insured for pension in Switzerland however no economic asset or liability was
recognized in the balance sheet. There was no employee contribution reserve available on 31 December 2021. Most
of the employees are located in Italy (Garage Italia Customs Srl) where the pension coverage is provided by the State.

Income tax
The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Current income taxes are accrued based on
taxable income of the current year. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are
enacted or substantially enacted at the reporting date. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for
all temporary differences between the tax and accounting bases of assets and liabilities at the reporting date using
the liability method.
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Deferred income taxes are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the asset is
realized, or the liability settled.
Deferred tax assets arising from tax loss carryforwards and deductible temporary differences are capitalized only if
it is probable that they can be used to be offset against future taxable profits.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority, within the same
taxable entity, and when the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, in the balance sheet and in the cash flow statement, comprise petty cash, cash at banks
and short-term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. They are recorded at their nominal value.

Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are recognized and carried at the original net invoiced amount less an allowance for any
specifically impaired receivables. Impairment is charged on receivables for specific identified risks. Bad debts are
written-off when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect the receivables. Allowances
for impaired receivables as well as losses on receivables are recognized within "Other operating expenses" in the
income statement.

Tangible assets
All property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.
Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of each asset to their residual values
over their estimated useful lives, as follows:
Vehicle

4 years

Equipment and Furniture

3-10 years

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount.
Gains and losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds with the
carrying amount and are recognized within "Extraordinary Result" in the income statement.
Tangible assets that are subject to depreciation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized for the amount
by which the asset’s carrying value exceeds its recoverable amount.
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Intangible assets
Goodwill
Goodwill from business combinations represents the difference between the acquisition costs and the proportional
revalued net identifiable assets of the acquired company at the time of purchase. Goodwill may also arise from
investments in associated companies and is defined as the difference between the acquisition costs of the investment and its proportional revalued nets assets. The goodwill resulting from acquisitions is amortized over 5 years.
Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Development costs
Internally generated development costs are only capitalized if they can be identified as intangible assets that will
generate economic benefits in the future and the costs can be measured reliably. Internally generated commercial
property rights and assets are capitalized at cost (development costs) if there is at least a high probability on the
balance sheet date that an asset will actually be created and will result in future measurable revenues. The cost of
production comprises the individually attributable costs from the consumption of goods and the utilization of services. Other development costs are expensed when incurred. Once a project is completed, the capitalized development costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the expected useful life (5 years) and regularly measured for
impairment.

Trademark and Intellectual property
Acquired licenses, patents, and similar rights are capitalized and amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of 3 to 15 years. The carrying amount of non-current assets is reviewed at least once a year.

Impairment of assets
Assets that are subject to amortization are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of the asset may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized for the
amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher
of an asset's net selling price and value in use. For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the
lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows.

Trade and other payables
Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from suppliers. Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or
in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Provisions
Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it
is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has
been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognized for future operating losses.
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Financial liabilities
Convertible loans and borrowings are initially recognized at nominal value.

Treasury shares
When share capital is repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid, which includes directly attributable costs,
net of any tax effects, is recognized as a deduction from equity. When treasury shares are subsequently sold, the
amount received is recognized as an increase in equity and the resulting surplus or deficit on the transaction is
presented within retained earnings.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue
of new shares or options, for the acquisition of a business, reduce the proceeds from the equity issue and are recognized directly in equity.

USE OF JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Swiss GAAP FER requires the use of certain assumptions
and estimates that influence the figures presented in this report. They are based on analysis and judgements which
are continuously reviewed and adapted if necessary.

3. SEGMENT REPORTING
The three reportable segments of the Group are as follows:
•

•
•

Automotive, a suite of services for the bespoke customization, electrification and restomod of classic and
collectible cars
Media, the long-established media distribution, and consulting services based in Italy and in the US
Financing, investment in special situations and interest-bearing bonds and other securities

The following table is an analysis of the Group activities:
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In 2021, The Management and the Board of Directors of Youngtimers AG has decided to focus on automotive and
media services business centred around Youngtimers’ strategic control investment in Garage Italia Customs S.r.l.
(“Automotive”) as well as Youngtimers Media LLC.
On 6 May 2022, Youngtimers AG closed a transaction to sell 100 % ownership interest in Youngtimers Media LLC. No
impairment loss has been booked on this investment disposal.

4. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES
The following table shows the items included in other operating expenses:

5. DEPRECIATION, AMORTIZATION AND IMPAIRMENT ON TANGIBLE AND INTANGIBLE
ASSETS
The following table shows the items included in depreciation, amortization and impairment:

36

Please refer to notes 13, 14 and 15 for additional information.

6. RELEASE OF IMPAIRMENTS AND LOSSES ON ASSETS
Release of impairments on assets

Losses on assets
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7. FINANCIAL INCOME AND FINANCIAL EXPENSES
2021
TCHF

2020
TCHF

Interest income bonds
Interest income loans
Other interest income
Total financial income

438
438

349
93
442

Interest on other financial liabilities
Interest on loan
Interest and financial expenses
Total financial expenses

(2)
(130)
(132)

(152)
(22)
(174)

306

268

Financial income, net

The financial income of TCHF 438 is related to the interest on long-term bonds.
The financial expenses of TCHF 132 are related to bank fees as well as interest on a loan from a related party.

8. EXTRAORDINARY INCOME AND EXPENSES
2021
TCHF

2020
TCHF

Prior periods ajustments

225

102

Waiver of claim
Total extraordinary income

13
238

102

The extraordinary income of TCHF 238 is mainly related to adjustments on bonds interest as well as to a waiver of
claim from a third-party.
2021
TCHF
Settlement of litigation Nicolò von Wunster
Provision legal expenses in connection with bankrupcy
Loss on current account Asknet AG
SIX penality
Prior periods ajustments
Total extraordinary expenses

(26)
(26)

The extraordinary expenses of TCHF 26 are related to prior periods adjustments.
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2020
TCHF
(150)
(50)
(2)
(70)
(35)
(307)

Release of provision on litigation
Release of provision
Total release of provision for litigation

0
-

400
400

As at 31 December 2019, the Company has decided to post a provision for litigation in the amount of CHF 400’000
related to the claim of the former CEO and Chairman of the Company, Mr. Nicolò von Wunster.
At the end of November 2020, the Company has entered into a friendly settlement with Mr von Wunster.
As at 31 December 2020, the conditions of the settlement were met. The transaction was considered completed and
such provision dissolved.

9. INCOME TAX
Amounts recognized in the income statement
The following table shows the items included in income tax:

2021
TCHF

2020
TCHF

Current tax expense
Current year

(18)

(6)

(18)

(6)

204

204

-

186

(6)

Deferred tax inocme
Deferred tax income

Income tax

Deferred tax assets and liabilities
The Group has registered no deferred tax assets or liabilities. Garage Italia Customs Srl has a recognized tax carryforward of TCHF 833.
Deferred tax assets related to tax loss carry-forwards of Youngtimers AG have not been recognized. Such tax loss
carry-forwards may be offset with future taxable profits in the same amount during a period of 7 years.
Available tax loss carry-forwards are as follows:
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31 Dec 2021

31 Dec 2020

TCHF

TCHF

Expiry of tax losses carry forwards:
19

3’694

9’979

8’858

Less than 1 year
Between 1 and 5 years
More than 5 years and indefinite
Total tax loss carry forwards

22’350

1’059

32’348

13’611

833

of which recognised
Total tax loss carry forwards - unrecognized

31’515

13’611

The applicable income tax rate is equal to 14% for the Swiss Companies and 24% for the Italian one.

10. TRADE AND OTHER CURRENT RECEIVABLES
The following table shows the items included in trade and other current receivables:
31 Dec 2021
TCHF
Trade receivables, third parties
Trade receivables, related party
Allowance for doubtful trade receivables, third parties
Total trade receivables

31 Dec 2020
TCHF

524
110

-

(42)
592

-

The amount of TCHF 524 is related to trade receivables of Garage Italia Customs S.r.l. as part of ordinary business
operations.
The amount of TCHF 110, a trade receivable from a related party, as well as the allowance for third-party doubtful
receivables are related to Garage Italia Customs S.r.l. and its ordinary business operations.
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31 Dec 2021
TCHF
The Native Media Inc., current account
FBNK Finance Sàrl, current account, related party
Good Cause Capital SA, related party
VAT to be received
Other current receivables
Total other current receivables
Impairment on the Native Media Inc., current account
Impairment on other current receivables
Total other current receivables, net

31 Dec 2020
TCHF

1 094
908
73
127
64
2 266

1 142
16
1 158

(1 094)
(1 094)

(1 142)
(1 142)

1 172

16

The amount of TCHF 908 is related to the remaining balance of a settlement between Youngtimers AG and FBNK
Finance Sàrl. On 25 May 2022, the Company has received the balancing payment in full and did not book any impairment (please refer to Note 28 “Subsequent events”).
The amount of TCHF 127 is related to VAT to be received, mostly by Garage Italia Customs S.r.l.

11. FINANCIAL ASSETS, NET
31 Dec 2021
TCHF

31 Dec 2020
TCHF

Investments
Bonds, related parties
Other financial assets
Deferred tax assets
Total financial assets

791
19 418

6 489

8
217
20 434

6 489

Impairment on Bonds, related party
Impairment on financial assets

(6 566)
(6 566)

-

Total financial assets, net

13 868

6 489

The Company, through its subsidiary Youngtimers Asset Company AG, has acquired bonds from related parties for
TCHF 19’418. As of 31 December 2020, all the Bonds are booked at their nominal value.
Following the review of the Net Asset Value of the Issuer, Garage Italia Finance Sàrl, the Management of the Company has decided an impairment on the investment equal to TCHF 6’566 as of 31 December 2021.
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12. OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES
The following table shows the items included in other current liabilities:
31 Dec 2021
TCHF

Other current liabilities, third parties
Other current liabilities, related parties
Other current liabilities related to acquisitions, related party
Total other current liabilities

31 Dec 2020
TCHF

675
74
1 000
1 749

11
37
48

The current liabilities to third parties amount to TCHF 675 with TCHF 165 related to ordinary business of Garage
Italia Customs Srl and TCHF 425 related to acquisition of certain assets by Youngtimers Media LLC.
The current liabilities related to acquisitions amount to TCHF 1’000 and are the remaining due amount for the
acquisition of Petrolicious assets, 1’800’000 treasury shares as well as Youngtimers Media investment.

13. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
The following table details the financial liabilities:
Current

Non-current

Year ended
31 Dec 2021
31 Dec 2020
TCHF
TCHF

Year ended
31 Dec 2021
31 Dec 2020
TCHF
TCHF

Loans from:
Related parties
Payables related to business combinations:
Related parties

-

-

-

600

-

-

-

337

Total financial liabilities

-

-

-

937

Interest-bearing liabilities - related parties
Non interest-bearing liabilites - related parties

-

-

-

600
337

Total financial liabilities

-

-

-

937

Payable within 1 to 5 years
Payable in more than 5 years

-

-

-

937
-

At the reporting date the Company had no financial liabilities.
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14. TANGIBLE ASSETS
Reconciliation of carrying amount
In TCHF

Equipment
& Furniture

Vehicule

Total

GROSS VALUE
Balance at 1 January 2021
Reclassification
Additions
Disposals and scrapping
Change in the scope of consolidation
Exchange difference
Balance at 31 December 2021

-

-

1
231
(9)
223

1
180
(9)
172

51
51

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES
Balance at 1 January 2021
Reclassification
Depreciation charge
Disposals and scrapping
Change in the scope of consolidation
Exchange difference
Balance at 31 December 2021
Net book amount at 31 December 2021

-

-

(6)

(5)

(14)
(20)

(107)
(16)
(128)

(11)
(121)
(16)
(148)

31

44

75

15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Trademarks
and intellectual
property

In TCHF

Development
costs

Other

Total

GROSS VALUE
Balance at 1 January 2021
Additions
Disposals and scrapping
Change in the scope of consolidation
Exchange difference
Balance at 31 December 2021

1 502

-

-

102
(5)
97

263
(14)
249

(5)

(8)

(3)
(699)

(54)
1
(58)

(203)
(15)
(227)

(31)
(678)
(257)
(17)
(984)

783

39

22

844

(19)
1 482

1 502
365
(38)
1 828

ACCUMULATED AMORTIZATION AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES
Balance at 1 January 2021
Amortization charge
Disposals and scrapping
Change in the scope of consolidation
Exchange difference
Balance at 31 December 2021

(18)
(678)

Net book amount at 31 December 2021
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The above intangible assets were principally related to the company automotive and media segments of the Company. Such assets include trademarks and intellectual property of Garage Italia Customs Srl and other subsidiaries.
Disposals of TCHF 678 have been booked in the Consolidated Financial Statements following the divestment of some
assets.

16. GOODWILL
Reconciliation of carrying amount:
GROSS VALUE
Balance at 1 January 2021
Change in the scope of consolidation
Balance at 31 December 2021

8’852
8’852

ACCUMULATED AMORTIZATION AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES
Balance at 1 January 2021
Amortization charge
Impairment
Balance at 31 December 2021

(590)
(3’500)
(4’090)

Net book amount at 31 December 2021

4’762

Throughout the second half of 2021 the Company has acquired several assets, including Youngtimers Asset Company
AG, Garage Italia Customs S.r.l. as well as Youngtimers Media LLC. The gross amount of Goodwill on 31 December
2021 amounted to TCHF 8’852.
As per the Group accounting policies, goodwill is amortized over a 5-years period, generating an amortization charge
of TCHF 590 in 2021.
In addition, the following goodwill impairment on 31 December 2021 has been decided by the Management:
•

An impairment of TCHF 3’500 has been recognized on Garage Italia Customs S.r.l. goodwill. Following the
change of control in the subsidiary, the war in Ukraine and related market turmoil as well as logistic issues
related to the automotive sector, the Management has decided to reduce its expectations from the business unit and therefore booked an impairment on the goodwill.
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17. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND TREASURY SHARES
Number
of shares

Ordinary
shares
TCHF

Treasury
Shares
TCHF

Total
TCHF

Balance at 1 January 2021

12’013’566

5’046

(21)

5’025

Capital increase
Treasury shares repurchased
Loss on conversion of Convertible Note 2017

50’000’000
-

21’000
-

(2’034)
-

21’000
(2’034)
-

Balance at 31 December 2021

62’013’566

26’046

(2’055)

23’991

Share capital
As per 31 December 2021, the share capital amounts to TCHF 26’046, consisting of 62’013’566 bearer shares with a
nominal value of CHF 0.42 each. Each share has one voting right and is fully entitled to dividends. The shares are
fully paid in. Each ordinary share carries one vote and a right to dividends.

Treasury shares
The Group holds 1’804’253 treasury shares at year-end (2020: 4’253), corresponding to an investment of 2.91%
(2020: 0.04%) of total shares issued.

18. EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net profit/loss attributable to Owners of the Company by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year, excluding ordinary shares owned by the Company and held as treasury shares (note 17).

Net result attributable to Owners of the Company (TCHF)
Total shares
Less new treasury shares
Less Treasury shares (average)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the
purpose of basic earnings per share
Basic earning per share
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31 Dec 2021

31 Dec 2020

(10’767)
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62’013’566
-1’800’000
(46’756)

12’013’566
-4’253

60’166’810
(0.18)

12’009’313
0.01

Diluted earnings per share
The calculation of diluted earnings per share has been based on the following profit/loss attributable to Owners of
the Company and weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding (excluding treasury shares), after adjustments to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

Net result attributable to Owners of the Company (TCHF)
Interest on convertible loan (TCHF)

31 Dec 2021

31 Dec 2020

(10’767)
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-

Net result attributable to Owners of the Company "diluted" (TCHF)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the
purpose of basic earnings per share
Shares deemed to be issued for no consideration
in respect of convertible loans and/or potential convertible loans
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the
purpose of diluted earnings per share
Diluted earning per share

-

(10’767)
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60’166’810

12’009’313

60’166’810
(0.18)

12’009’313
0.01

19. IMPORTANT SHAREHOLDERS
The following shareholders (with a participation exceeding 3% known to the Company) are considered as significant:
Name

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

23.68%
23.04%
21.81%
10.83%
5%
-

15.20%
24.97%
16.65%
12.58%
8.82%
4.12%
3.79%

HLEE Finance Sàrl
L Holding Srl
Good Cause Capital SA
Digital Investment Platform Sàrl
Adam Lindemann
FBNK Finance Sàrl
Herculis Trustees AG
Unicorn Advisory OU
Falcon Consulting Limited
Herculis Partners SA

20. COMMITMENTS
There are no commitments.
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21. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
The Company has acquired Youngtimers Asset Company AG (YAC) for a consideration of TCHF 150. Following the
acquisition, the Company has taken part in the capital increase of YAC for an amount of TCHF 900. Therefore, a total
consideration of TCHF 1050 has been booked in the accounts.
The Company has acquired, through its subsidiary Youngtimers Asset Company AG, a 100% ownership of Garage
Italia Customs Srl for a consideration of TCHF 10’000. Following the sale of 30% for a consideration of TCHF 3’000,
the balance of the consideration booked in the accounts is equal to TCHF 7’000.
The Company has acquired, through its subsidiary Youngtimers Asset Company AG, a 100% ownership of Youngtimers Media LLC for a total consideration of TCHF 3’287. A remaining consideration of TCHF 1’000 is due and has
been therefore booked as such in the accounts.

In TCHF

Youngtimers Asset
Company AG

Consideration
Cash paid
Acquired through capital increase
Due consideration
Total consideration

150
900

Youngtimers
Media LLC

Garage Italia
Customs Srl

Total

7 000
-

1 050

2 287
1 000
3 287

7 000

9 437
900
10 337

21 770
18
10 000
37
(7)
(32)
(144)
(31 000)
642

-

1 339
1 415
240
501
64
796
80
(1 407)
(282)
(109)
(5)
(790)
1 843

23 109
1 433
240
501
64
10 000
796
117
(1 414)
(314)
(253)
(31 000)
(5)
(790)
2 485

408

3 287

5 157

7 852

Less:
Recognized amounts of identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed
Cash & cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Inventories
Prepaid expenses
Tangible assets
Consolidated investment
Other investments
Intangible assets
Trade and other payables
Accrued expenses
Current financial liabilities
Non-current financial liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Minority interest
Total identifiable assets
Goodwill

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the identifiable net assets of the subsidiaries acquired is
recorder as goodwill. As per the Group accounting policies, goodwill is amortized over a 5-year period. Amortization
has been calculated on a pro rata basis since the entry of the acquired entities in the scope of consolidation, i.e. over
4 months for Youngtimers Asset Company AG, Garage Italia Customs Srl and Youngtimers Media LLC.
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An impairment of TCHF 3’500 has been recognized on Garage Italia Customs S.r.l. goodwill. The change of control in
the subsidiary, the war in Ukraine and related market turmoil as well as logistic issues related to the automotive
sector caused the Management to reduce its expectations from the business unit.

22. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Company has certain contingent liabilities in respect of legal claims arising in the ordinary course of business. In
Management’s opinion, it is not anticipated that any material liabilities will arise from the contingent liabilities.

23. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS
Details of transactions and balances between the Group and its related parties are disclosed below.
All amounts outstanding shown below are unsecured and are expected to be settled in cash or compensation of
receivable/payable.

Related parties’ transactions and balances
Transaction values for
the year ended 31 December
2021
2020
TCHF
TCHF
Revenue
Consulting
Interests - bonds
Financial expenses
Other related parties
Loans
Other related parties
Other loan
Bonds
Acquisition of bonds
Impairment on bonds
Repayment of bonds
Non-current assets
Acquisition of subsidiaries
Sale of subsidiaries
Acquisition of intangible assets
Sale of intangible assets
Acquisition of own shares
Others
Accrued income bonds
Net amount

Balance outstanding at
31 December
2021
2020
TCHF
TCHF

560
438

349

-

(1)

(1)

-

(1)

-

-

(600)
(337)

(19 418)
6 566
5 508

(6 489)
-

19 418
(6 566)
981

6 489
-

(13 438)
3 000
(678)
678
(2 034)

-

(1 000)
-

-

-

-
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41

(19 728)

(6 141)

12 877

5 592

(601)
(308)
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-

On 2 November 2021, Digital Knight Finance Sàrl, controlled by a shareholder, acquired TEUR 4’500 of HLEE Finance
Sàrl Bonds according to a buy-back agreement at the nominal value plus accrued interest for a total amount of TCHF
4’896 (TEUR 4’589).
On 31 August 2021, Digital Investment Platform Sàrl, controlled by a shareholder, received TCHF 6’000 for the sale
of Youngtimers Media LLC, Alti Assets as well as treasury shares of Youngtimers AG. A current liability of TCHF 1’000
has been recorded in the financial statements (please see Note 11).
The Company has signed a Consulting Services Agreement with Digital Domain Broadcasting (HK) Ltd, controlled by
a shareholder, bringing a total net revenue in 2021 of TUSD 600 (TCHF 560).
Youngtimers Asset Company AG (YAC) has acquired 100% of Garage Italia Customs Srl for TCHF 10’000 from Laps to
Go Holding Srl, indirectly controlled by one of the Company’s shareholders. Subsequently YAC sold 30% of Garage
Italia Customs Srl for TCHF 3’000 to Garage Italia Finance Sàrl, a shareholder of the Company as of 31 December
2021.
Youngtimers Asset Company AG sold Alti assets to Good Cause Capital SA (GCC), related party, for TCHF 678 and
subsequently compensated the liability of GCC versus the Company with the loan between the Company and Youngtimers Asset Company AG.
On 20 July 2021, The Company has acquired from Massimiliano Iuliano, Chairman at 31 December 2021, its subsidiary Youngtimers Asset Company AG for a consideration of TCHF 150.
Youngtimers Asset Company AG has acquired long-term 4.5% interest-bearing bonds for a nominal value of TEUR
19’000 from Garage Italia Finance Sàrl, a Company’s shareholder, for TCHF 19’418.

24. FULL-TIME EQUIVALENT EMPLOYMENTS
The annual average number of full-time equivalent employments for the reporting year, as well as the previous year,
did not exceed 10.

25. PENSION LIABILITIES
On 31 December 2021, the Company had no pension liabilities (2020: CHF 0).

26. LEASING
The Company has a leasing liability as of 31 December 2021 of TCHF 33 that has been taken over by a third-party in
2022. The Company had leasing liability as of 31 December 2020.

27. SHARES AND OPTIONS HELD BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Mr. Adam Lindemann, Chairman of the Board of Directors, holds 5.00% of the Company.
Mr. Clive Ng, Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors, indirectly holds 23.68% of the Company.
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As of 31 December 2020, Mr. Patrick Girod, Director, held 0.49% of the Company.
As of 31 December 2020, Mr. Victor Iezuitov, Director, held 8.82% of the Company.
No options have currently been issued to any member of the Board of Directors or to any member of the Executive
Management Team under any share option plan

28. COMPENSATION TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The compensation of the Board of Directors and other members of key management personnel during the year were
as follows:
31 December 2021
In TCHF
Members of the Board of
Directors and Executive
Management Team of
Youngtimers AG
Function

Board of Directors
compensation (i)

Executive
Management Team
compensation(ii)

Other

Total

Patrick Girod

Chairman of the Board of
Directors (until 30 June 2021)

50

0

0

50

Victor Iezuitov

Member of the Board of
Directors (until 30 June 2021)

35

0

0

35

Massimiliano Iuliano

Delegate of the Board of
Directors (from 30 June 2021)

0

104

0

104

Total

85

104

-

189

31 December 2020
In TCHF
Members of the Board of
Directors and Executive
Management Team of
Youngtimers AG
Function

Board of Directors
compensation (i)

Executive
Management Team
compensation(ii)

Other

Total

Patrick Girod

Chairman of the Board of
Directors

115

0

0

115

Victor Iezuitov

Member of the Board of
Directors

70

0

0

70

Total

(i)
(ii)

185

-

-

185

Gross fixed compensation to the members of the Board of Directors.
Gross fixed compensation and fringe benefits to the members of the Executive Management Team.
The remuneration of Mr Massimiliano Iuliano has been considered since the acquisition of Youngtimers
Asset Company AG (1 September 2021).
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29. LOANS AND CREDITS GRANTED TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
There are no loans granted to members of the Board of Directors.
There are no guarantees issued or assumed for any members or former members of the Board of Directors.

30. FEES PAID TO THE AUDITORS
The audit related fees for the year 2021 amount to TCHF 131 (2020: TCHF 79). Fees for other services for the year
2021 amount to TCHF 6 (2020: TCHF 10).

31. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
On 17 January 2022 Youngtimers AG completed the acquisition of 100% of Garage Italia Finance S.à r.l., which was
announced on 17 December 2021 and is carried out by the Company’s 100% subsidiary Youngtimers Asset Company
AG, for an aggregate cash consideration of EUR 650,000. Following this transaction Youngtimers AG will consolidate
back 100% of Garage Italia Customs S.r.l. (currently 70% owned by Youngtimers Asset Company AG).
On 10 March 2022 the Board of Directors of the Company decided to adjust its business strategy and make changes
to the Board of Directors to reflect a new European-focused strategy of the Company. The Company’s original focus
on special situation investments in media and creative industries will remain, however Youngtimers AG will no longer
pursue the roll-up strategy for the collectible cars business and divested of Youngtimers Media LLC, the 100% owned
US subsidiary and the owner of Petrolicious assets and divested of Youngtimers Sports. The divestment process was
completed in Q2 2022. To adjust for the new Europe-only focused business footprint, Youngtimers AG reduced its
Board of Directors as of 15 March 2022 with its USA-based Directors Messrs Adam Lindemann and Clive Ng resigning
from the Board as of 15 March 2022. According to the Articles of Association of the Company the Board of Directors
has elected Mr. Iuliano as the Chairman of Youngtimers AG and Lorenzo Landini and Svetlana Klochko as members
of the Compensation Committee and the latter as its Chairwoman as of 15 March 2022 until the next AGM to be
held at the end of August 2022.
On 20 June 2022 the Company disclosed that it has increased its ownership interest in Gremi Media SA, a Polish
media group that owns among other assets rp.pl (Rzeczpospolita), the market leading publication in Poland, the
hotspot for the ongoing transformation of European economics and politics today. Youngtimers AG (through its fully
owned subsidiary Garage Italia Finance Sàrl) filed that it owns 117,486 shares of Gremi Media SA that is equivalent
to just over 5.0% ownership interest of the company.
As part of a strategic asset reallocation, on 22 July 2022 Youngtimers Asset Company AG sold bonds of Garage Italia
Finance S.à r.l. for a purchase price consideration of EUR 14'374'282 to Garage Italia Finance S.à r.l., as the issuer of
the bond. The purchase price was paid in the form of shares in four listed companies and as part of this transaction,
Youngtimers Asset Company AG received shares in MCH Group AG (Switzerland), Talenthouse AG (Switzerland),
Gremi Media S.A. (Poland) and Youngtimers AG (Switzerland).
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AUDITOR’S REPORT ON CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

52

Lausanne, July 29, 2022

Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Youngtimers AG and its
subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at
31 December 2021, the consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of
changes in equity, consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements (pages 22 to 51)
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 December 2021 and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Swiss GAAP FER and comply
with Swiss law.
Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards.
Our responsibilities under those provisions and standards are further described in the
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section
of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the provisions of Swiss law and
the requirements of the Swiss audit profession and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most
significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.
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Key audit matter
_______________________________________

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter
______________________________________

The Group has recognized goodwill
balances in the net amount of
TCHF 4’762 (16% of total assets). The
management booked an impairment of
TCHF 3’500 on the goodwill. We
consider the valuation of goodwill to be a
key audit matter.
Goodwill is the difference between the
value of assets and liabilities at the time
of acquisition and the purchase price for
the consolidated respective investments.
Goodwill is measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses. Depreciation is
recognised in the income statement on a
straight-line basis over 5 years and with
no residual value.

We obtained an understanding of the
process for capitalization of goodwill.
We assessed whether transactions
resulting in a goodwill were accurately
recorded in the consolidated balance
sheet.
We assessed the management’s
assumptions and calculation regarding
the discounted cash flows model used.
We considered the subsequent events
which could have an impact on the
valuation of the goodwill.
Our audit procedures did not lead to
any reservation regarding the
impairment of the goodwill.

Goodwill has to be assessed for
impairment on a yearly basis by
management using a discounted cash
flow model to determine the value in use
of goodwill balances. This requires to use
a number of key assumptions and
judgments, including the estimated future
cash flows, long-term growth rates,
profitability levels and discounted rates
applied.
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How our audit addressed the key audit
matter
______________________________________

Key audit matter
_______________________________________
As of 31 December 2021, the Group
holds bonds from a related party in the
amount of TCHF 19’418. These bonds
are subject to a value adjustment
amounting to TCHF 6’566. The net
book value of TCHF 12’852 represents
43% of total assets.

We performed the following audit
procedures:

The cash received by the related party for
the bonds has been invested in different
assets and investments (listed or not
listed).
The Net Asset Value of the bonds
calculated as of 31 December 2021 is
based on the value of each underlying
assets. These values are subject to price
changes for listed assets and valuation
changes for other unlisted assets.

• We critically assessed the
methodology applied and the
reasonableness of the underlying
assumptions and judgments.
• We tested the calculation made by
the management of the fair value of
the underlying assets.
• We tested the calculation of the Net
Asset Value of the bonds and the
calculation of the impairment
booked.
Our audit procedures did not lead to
any reservations regarding the
impairment of bonds.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors for the consolidated financial statements
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with Swiss GAAP FER and the
provisions of Swiss law, and for such internal control as the Board of Directors
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Board of Directors is
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate
the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
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Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards, we
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the
audit. We also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control.
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates and related disclosures made.
• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner
that achieves fair presentation.
• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of
the entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.
We communicate with the Board of Directors or its relevant committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.
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We also provide the Board of Directors or its relevant committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors or its relevant
committee, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

In the course of our audit performed in accordance with article 728a para. 1 item 3
CO and Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we noted that an internal control system for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements designed according to the
instructions of the Board of Directors was adequately documented but not
implemented in all material respects.
In our opinion, the internal control system is not in accordance with Swiss law and
accordingly we are unable to confirm the existence of the internal control system for
the preparation of consolidated financial statements.
We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be
approved.
We also draw your attention to the fact that the General shareholders' meeting
approving the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2021 has not been held within six months of the closing date, which is contrary to the
provisions of article 699 para. 2 CO.
Berney Associés Audit SA

Claude HERI

Licensed Audit Expert
Auditor in charge

Marina CHRISTE
Licensed Audit Expert
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INCOME STATEMENT
(in Swiss Francs)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
NOTES
General and administrative expenses
Allocation to provision on accrued income & prepaid exp.
Allocation to provision on financial assets
Release of impairments on assets
Losses on assets

2021
CHF

2020
CHF

(694’544)
(11’000’000)
-

(585’672)
(53’845)
423’626
(416’729)

Total operating expenses

(11’694’544)

(632’620)

Operating result

(11’694’544)

(632’620)

(272’018)
(100’180)
305’242
(26’090)
119’607
-

193’689
(174’379)
441’964
(306’604)
101’921
400’000

(11’667’982)

23’970

Exchange differences
Interest expenses and bank charges
Interest revenues
Extraordinary expenses
Extraordinary income
Release of provision for litigation

7
9
3
3

4
4

Result before taxes
Income taxes

-

Result for the year

(11’667’982)
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(5’500)
18’470

BALANCE SHEET (1/2)
(in Swiss Francs)

As of 31 December 2021

31 Dec 2021
CHF

31 Dec 2020
CHF

6’257’518
12’309
908’237
88’839

180’196
15’922
58’564

7’266’903

254’682

1’050’000
19’398’500

6’489’300

Total non-current assets

20’448’500

6’489’300

Total assets

27’715’403

6’743’982

NOTES
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Other short-term receivables due from third parties, net
Other short-term receivables due from related parties
Accrued income and prepaid expenses, net

5
6
7

Total current assets

Non-current assets
Investments
Financial assets to related parties, net

8
9
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BALANCE SHEET (2/2)
(in Swiss Francs)

As of 31 December 2021

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

NOTES 31 Dec 2021
CHF

31 Dec 2020
CHF

62’813
65’345
74’408
342’571

277’027
10’888
36’943
334’752

545’137

659’610

Current liabilities
Trade accounts payable to third parties
Other short-term liabilities from third parties
Other short-term liabilities from related parties
Accrued expenses

11

Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Long-term interest-bearing liabilities from related parties
Long-term non-interest-bearing liabilities from related parties

10
10

Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities

-

600’000
337’146

-

937’146

545’137

1’596’756

12

26’045’698

5’045’698

12

10’657’022
2’034’000
12’691’022

Profit carried forward
Result for the year
Accumulated losses/profit

12

122’240
(11’667’982)
(11’545’742)

103’770
18’470
122’240

Treasury shares

12

(20’712)

(20’712)

Total shareholders' equity

12

27’170’266

5’147’226

27’715’403

6’743’982

Shareholders' equity
Share capital
Reserve from capital contributions
Legal retained earnings - reserve for treasury shares
Reserves

Total liabilities and equity
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS UNDER SWISS CO
(in Swiss Francs)

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of preparation
The financial statements of Youngtimers AG, Basel, (the “Company”) have been prepared in accordance with the
provisions of Swiss Law on Accounting and Financial Reporting (32nd title of the Swiss Code of Obligations, “CO”).
Where not prescribed by law, the significant accounting and valuation principles applied are described below.
Since the Company has prepared its consolidated financial statements in accordance with a recognized accounting
standard (Swiss GAAP FER), it has decided to forego presenting a cash flow statement in accordance with the law.

Other receivables
Other receivables are recognized and carried at the original net invoiced amount less an allowance for any specifically impaired receivables. Impairment is charged on receivables for a general credit risk and for specific identified
risks. Allowances for impaired receivables as well as losses on receivables are recognized within "Allocation to provisions on receivables" in the income statement.

Investments
Investments are valued at cost less necessary impairment. Allowances for impaired investments are recognized
within “Allocation to provision on investments in subsidiaries” in the equity.

Financial assets
Financial assets include a long-term shareholder loan to its subsidiary. The loan is valued at cost less any necessary
impairment. An allowance for impaired financial assets is recognized withing “Allocation to provision on financial
assets” in the Income statement.

Treasury shares
Treasury shares are recognized at cost and deducted from equity. If treasury shares are sold, the gain or loss is
recognized in the equity.

Non-current liabilities
Non-current liabilities are recognized in the balance sheet at nominal value.

Foreign currencies
Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency are translated into Swiss Francs (CHF) using year-end exchange
rates, except for investments, which are translated at historical exchange rates.
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Monetary and non-monetary items in foreign currency are translated into Swiss francs at the following year-end
exchange rates:
Balance sheet
31 Dec 2021

Balance sheet
31 Dec 2020

1.03615

1.0815

EUR

Transactions during the year, which are denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rates
effective at the relevant transaction date. Resulting exchange gains and losses are recognized in the income statement.

2. OTHER INCOME
As of 31 December 2021, the Company had no other income.

3. RELEASE OF IMPAIRMENTS AND LOSSES ON ASSETS
Release of impairments on assets
2021
CHF

2020
CHF

Release impairment on Highlight Finance Corp., current account

-

270’388

Release impairment on Highlight Finance Corp., minority investments

-

146’341

Release impairment on Stockaccess Holding SAS, interests
Release of impairments on assets

-

6’897
423’626

Losses on assets
2021

2020

CHF

CHF

Highlight Finance Corp., current account

-

Highlight Finance Corp., minority investments
Losses on assets

-

270’388
-
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146’341
416’729

4. EXTRAORDINARY EXPENSES AND INCOME
Extraordinary expenses
2021
CHF

2020
CHF

Settlement of litigation Nicolò von Wunster

-

150’000

Provision legal expenses in connection with bankrupcy

-

50’000

Loss on current account Asknet AG

-

1’785

SIX penality

-

69’500

Prior periods ajustments

26’090

35’215

Miscellaneous
Extraordinary expenses

26’090

105
306’604

Extraordinary income
2021

2020

CHF

CHF

Waiver of claims Nexway Group AG

12’700

AFC, cancelation of stamp duties tax

37’390
69’517
119’607

Prior periods adjustments
Extraordinary income

101’921
101’921

Due to a waiver by Nexway Group AG, the Company was able to generate extraordinary income of CHF 12’700 in
2021.
In 2021 there was a credit due to the cancelation of stamp duties on negotiated securities rights by the Federal tax
administration.
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5. OTHER SHORT-TERM RECEIVABLES DUE FROM THIRD PARTIES, NET
31 Dec 2021
CHF

31 Dec 2020
CHF

1’093’760

1’141’684

12’309

15’808

1’106’069

114
1’157’606

(1’093’760)
(1’093’760)

(1’141’684)
(1’141’684)

12’309

15’922

31 Dec 2021
CHF

31 Dec 2020
CHF

The Native Media Inc., current account
VAT to be received
Miscellaneous
Other short-term receivables due from third parties
Impairment on the Native Media Inc., current account
Impairment on other short-term receivables due from third parties
Other short-term receivables due from third parties, net

6. OTHER SHORT-TERM RECEIVABLES FROM RELATED PARTIES

FBNK Finance Sàrl, current account, related party
Other short-term receivables due from related parties

908’237
908’237

-

The amount due by FBNK Finance Sàrl arises from the not yet fully paid purchase price related to the sale of Bonds
to the former shareholder FBNK Finance Sàrl.
On 3 June 2022 the Company has received a full repayment of the receivable.
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7. ACCRUED INCOME AND PREPAID EXPENSES, NET
31 Dec 2021
CHF

31 Dec 2020
CHF

457’212

457’212

Interests P8H Inc.
Interests on loan Youngtimers Asset Company AG, related party

87’267

-

Accrued interests on bonds FBNK Finance Sàrl, related party

-

27’377

Accrued interests on bonds HLEE Finance Sàrl, related party

-

13’519

-

13’529

Down payment legal services fees
Miscelleneous
Accrued income and prepaid expenses
Impairment on P8H Inc., interests
Impairment on accrued income and prepaid expenses

1’572
546’051

4’139
515’776

(457’212)
(457’212)

(457’212)
(457’212)

88’839

58’564

Accrued income and prepaid expenses, net

8. INVESTMENTS

Voting and
capital rights
in %
31 Dec 2021

Voting and
capital rights
in %
31 Dec 2020

Capital

Capital

31 Dec 2021

31 Dec 2020

100%/100%

N/A

CHF 1'000'000

N/A

70%/70%

N/A

EUR 1'200'000

N/A

100%/100%

N/A

USD 100

N/A

Direct investment
Youngtimers Asset Company AG, Basel, Switzerland

Indirect investments
Garage Italia Customs S.r.l., Milano, Italy
Youngtimers Media LLC, New York, USA

Gross book
value

Movements

Gross book
value

Accumulated
provisions

Movements

Accumulated
provisions

Net book
value

31 Dec 2020
CHF

2021
CHF

31 Dec 2021
CHF

31 Dec 2020
CHF

2021
CHF

31 Dec 2021
CHF

31 Dec 2021
CHF

Youngtimers Asset Company AG, Basel, Switzerland

-

1’050’000

1’050’000

-

-

-

1’050’000

TOTAL

-

1’050’000

1’050’000

-

-

-

1’050’000

On 20 July and with completion date 1 September 2021, the Company acquired Youngtimers Asset Company AG
with a share capital of CHF 100’000. On 15 September 2021, The Company carried out a capital increase at Youngtimers Asset Company AG of CHF 900’000 to CHF 1’000’000.
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Through the 100% subsidiary Youngtimers Asset Company AG, the Company holds a 70% stake in Garage Italia Customs S.r.l., Italy and a 100% stake in Youngtimers Media LLC, United States.

9. FINANCIAL ASSETS TO RELATED PARTIES, NET

Loan Youngtimers Asset Company AG, related party
Bonds FBNK Finance Sàrl, related party
Bonds HLEE Finance Sàrl, related party
Financial assets to related parties
Impairment on loan Youngtimers Asset Company AG, related party
Impairment on financial assets to related parties

31 Dec 2021
CHF

31 Dec 2020
CHF

30’398’500
30’398’500

1’622’325
4’866’975
6’489’300

(11’000’000)
(11’000’000)

Financial assets to related parties, net

-

19’398’500

6’489’300

On 26 July 2021 the Company granted its own subsidiary Youngtimers Asset Company AG a shareholder loan of CHF
31’000’000. The Company has subordinated CHF 11’000’000 of the shareholder loan and impaired the amount in
the accounts.

10. LONG-TERM LIABILITIES FROM RELATED PARTIES
The following table details the financial liabilities:
Current

Non-current

31 Dec 2021
CHF

31 Dec 2020
CHF

31 Dec 2021
CHF

31 Dec 2020
CHF

-

-

-

600’000

-

-

-

337’146

-

-

-

937’146

Loans from:
Related parties
Payables related to business combinations:
Related parties
Total financial liabilities

-

-

-

-

Interest-bearing liabilities - related parties

-

-

-

600’000

Non interest-bearing liabilites - related parties

-

-

-

337’146

Total financial liabilities

-

-

-

937’146

Payable within 1 to 5 years

-

937’146

Payable in more than 5 years

-

-
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As of 31 December 2021, the company no longer had any financial liabilities.

11. ACCRUED EXPENSES
31 Dec 2021
CHF

31 Dec 2020
CHF

Provision on taxes 2017-2020
Provision on taxes 2021
Provision for fees
Others accrued expenses

40 200
27 200
211 339

40 200
191 702

63 832

102 850

Total accrued expenses

342 571

334 752

12. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY, RESERVES AND TREASURY SHARES
Share
Capital
CHF

Reserve from

Reserve for

capital contributions treasury shares
CHF

CHF

Accumulated

Treasury

losses/profit

Shares

Total

CHF

CHF

CHF

Balance at 1 January 2020

10’889’165

-

-

(9’465’596)

(33’811)

Capital decrease

(9’582’465)

-

-

9’569’366

13’099

Capital increase

3’738’998

-

-

-

-

3’738’998

-

-

18’470

-

18’470

Result for the year

-

1’389’758
-

Balance at 31 December 2020

5’045’698

-

-

122’240

(20’712)

5’147’226

Balance at 1 January 2021

5’045’698

-

-

122’240

(20’712)

5’147’226

Capital increase

21’000’000

Result for the year
Balance at 31 December 2021

26’045’698

10’657’022
10’657’022

2’034’000
2’034’000

-

33’691’022

(11’667’982)

-

-

(11’667’982)

(11’545’742)

(20’712)

27’170’266

Share capital
As of 31 December 2021, the share capital amounts to CHF 26'045'697.72, consisting of 62'013'566 bearer shares
with a nominal value of CHF 0.42 each. Each share has one voting right and is fully entitled to dividends. The shares
are fully paid in.

Capital Increase 30 June 2021
At the Annual General Meeting of 30 June 2021, the Shareholders accepted the motion of the Board of Directors
and voted in favor of an increase of the current share capital of the Company of CHF 5'045'697.72 by a minimum of
CHF 12'000'000.18 and a maximum of CHF 24'000'000.36 to a maximum of new CHF 29'045'698.08 by issuance of a
minimum of 28'571'429 and a maximum of 57'142'858 new bearer shares with a nominal value of CHF 0.42 each
and to cancel the subscription rights of the Shareholders, as the capital increase was to enable the acquisition of
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companies or parts thereof (article 652b Swiss Code of Obligations), and let the Board of Directors in its sole discretion allocate to third parties the subscription rights.
The capital increase was subscribed through a Private Placement by a small number of private investors.
Subsequent the Annual General Meeting the Board of Directors has carried out the capital increase in an amount of
CHF 21'000'000 corresponding to 50'000'000 new bearer shares at CHF 0.42 each.

Treasury shares
The Company holds 4’253 treasury shares at year-end (2020: 4’253), corresponding to an investment of 0.007 %
(2020: 0.04%) of total shares issued.

13. IMPORTANT SHAREHOLDERS
The following shareholders (with a participation exceeding 3% known to the Company) are considered as significant:
Name

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

23.68%
23.04%
21.81%
10.83%
5%
-

15.20%
24.97%
16.65%
12.58%
8.82%
4.12%
3.79%

HLEE Finance Sàrl
L Holding Srl
Good Cause Capital SA
Digital Investment Platform Sàrl
Adam Lindemann
FBNK Finance Sàrl
Herculis Trustees AG
Unicorn Advisory OU
Falcon Consulting Limited
Herculis Partners SA

14. COMMITMENTS
There are no commitments.

15. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Company has certain contingent liabilities in respect of legal claims arising in the ordinary course of business. In
Management’s opinion, it is not anticipated that any material liabilities will arise from the contingent liabilities.

16. FULL-TIME EQUIVALENT EMPLOYMENTS
The annual average number of full-time equivalent employments for the reporting year, as well as the previous year,
did not exceed 10.
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17. PENSION LIABILITIES
On 31 December 2021, the liability to the pension scheme amounted to CHF 0 (2020: CHF 0).

18. LEASING
The Company has a leasing liability of CHF 32’524 as of 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: CHF 0).

19. SHARES AND OPTIONS HELD BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Mr. Adam Lindemann, Chairman, holds 5.00% of the Company.
Clive Ng, Vice Chairman, indirectly holds 23.68% of the Company.
As of 31 December 2020, Mr. Patrick Girod, Director, held 0.49% of the Company.
As of 31 December 2020, Mr. Victor Iezuitov, Director, held 8.82% of the Company.
No options have currently been issued to any member of the Board of Directors or to any member of the Executive
Management Team under any share option plan

20. COMPENSATION TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The compensation of the Board of Directors and other members of key management personnel during the year were
as follows:
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31 December 2021
In TCHF
Members of the Board of
Directors and Executive
Management Team of
Youngtimers AG
Function

Board of Directors
compensation (i)

Executive
Management Team
compensation(ii)

Other

Total

Patrick Girod

Chairman of the Board of
Directors (until 30 June 2021)

50

0

0

50

Victor Iezuitov

Member of the Board of
Directors (until 30 June 2021)

35

0

0

35

Massimiliano Iuliano

Delegate of the Board of
Directors (from 30 June 2021)

0

104

0

104

Total

85

104

-

189

31 December 2020
In TCHF
Members of the Board of
Directors and Executive
Management Team of
Youngtimers AG
Function

Board of Directors
compensation (i)

Executive
Management Team
compensation(ii)

Other

Total

Patrick Girod

Chairman of the Board of
Directors

115

0

0

115

Victor Iezuitov

Member of the Board of
Directors

70

0

0

70

Total

185

-

-

185

(i) Gross fixed compensation to the members of the Board of Directors.
(ii) Gross fixed compensation and fringe benefits to the members of the Executive Management Team. The remuneration of Mr Massimiliano Iuliano has been considered since the acquisition of Youngtimers Asset Company
AG (1 September 2021). The expense is recorded in the Youngtimers Asset Company AG accounts.

21. LOANS AND CREDITS GRANTED TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
There are no loans granted to members of the Board of Directors.
There are no guarantees issued or assumed for any members or former members of the Board of Directors.

22. FEES PAID TO THE AUDITORS
The audit related fees for the year 2021 amount to CHF 91’000 (2020: CHF 78’800). Fees for other services for the
year 2021 amount to CHF 6’100 (2020: CHF 9’800).
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23. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
On 17 January 2022 Youngtimers AG completed the acquisition of 100% of Garage Italia Finance S.à r.l., which was
announced on 17 December 2021 and is carried out by the Company’s 100% subsidiary Youngtimers Asset Company
AG, for an aggregate cash consideration of EUR 650,000. Following this transaction Youngtimers AG will consolidate
back 100% of Garage Italia Customs S.r.l. (currently 70% owned by Youngtimers Asset Company AG).
On 10 March 2022 the Board of Directors of the Company decided to adjust its business strategy and make changes
to the Board of Directors to reflect a new European-focused strategy of the Company. The Company’s original focus
on special situation investments in media and creative industries will remain, however Youngtimers AG will no longer
pursue the roll-up strategy for the collectible cars business and divested of Youngtimers Media LLC, the 100% owned
US subsidiary and the owner of Petrolicious assets and divested of Youngtimers Sports. The divestment process was
completed in Q2 2022. To adjust for the new Europe-only focused business footprint, Youngtimers AG reduced its
Board of Directors as of 15 March 2022 with its USA-based Directors Mssrs Adam Lindemann and Clive Ng resigning
from the Board as of 15 March 2022. According to the Articles of Association of the Company the Board of Directors
has elected Mr. Iuliano as the Chairman of Youngtimers AG and Lorenzo Landini and Svetlana Klochko as members
of the Compensation Committee and the latter as its Chairwoman as of 15 March 2022 until the next AGM to be
held at the end of August 2022.
On 20 June 2022 the Company disclosed that it has increased its ownership interest in Gremi Media SA, a Polish
media group that owns among other assets rp.pl (Rzeczpospolita), the market leading publication in Poland, the
hotspot for the ongoing transformation of European economics and politics today. Youngtimers AG (through its fully
owned subsidiary Garage Italia Finance S.à r.l.) filed that it owns 117,486 shares of Gremi Media SA that is equivalent
to just over 5.0% ownership interest of the company.
As part of a strategic asset reallocation, on 22 July 2022 Youngtimers Asset Company AG sold bonds of Garage Italia
Finance S.à r.l. for a purchase price consideration of EUR 14'374'282 to Garage Italia Finance S.à r.l., as the issuer of
the bond. The purchase price was paid in the form of shares in four listed companies and as part of this transaction,
Youngtimers Asset Company AG received shares in MCH Group AG (Switzerland), Talenthouse AG (Switzerland),
Gremi Media S.A. (Poland) and Youngtimers AG (Switzerland).

72

AUDITOR’S REPORT ON STATUTORY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Lausanne, July 29, 2022

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Youngtimers AG, which comprise the
balance sheet as at 31 December 2021, the income statement and notes for the year
then ended, including a summary of significant accounting policies.
In our opinion the accompanying financial statements (pages 58 to 72) as at
31 December 2021 comply with Swiss law and the company’s articles of
incorporation.
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards.
Our responsibilities under those provisions and standards are further described in the
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our
report.
We are independent of the entity in accordance with the provisions of Swiss law and
the requirements of the Swiss audit profession and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most
significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.

74

Key audit matters
_______________________________________
As of 31 December 2021, the company
has granted a long-term loan to its
subsidiary Youngtimers Asset Capital
AG in the amount of CHF 30’398’500.
This loan is subject to a value
adjustment amounting to CHF
11’000’000. The net book value of
CHF 19’398’500 represents 70% of
total assets.
Youngtimers Asset Capital AG holds
significant investments in subsidiaries
and Bonds. Therefore, the valuation of
this asset is also affected by the value
of the indirectly held financial assets
and by the financial position and the
ability of the subsidiary to generate
positive cash flows in the future.

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter
_______________________________________
We performed the following audit
procedures:
• We critically assessed the methodology
applied and the reasonableness of the
underlying assumptions and judgments.
• We tested analyses prepared by
management based on a discounted
cash flow model and the calculation of
the fair value of the Bonds.
• We reviewed equity to evidence the
financial position of the subsidiary and
challenged the recoverability of the
loan.
Our audit procedures did not lead to any
reservations regarding the impairment of
the loan due from the subsidiary.

In accordance with Article 960 CO, this
financial asset must be tested annually
for impairment. An impairment would
need to be recorded if the loan balance
was no longer considered recoverable
from the subsidiary.
Responsibility of the Board of Directors for the Financial Statements
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in
accordance with the provisions of Swiss law and the company’s articles of
incorporation, and for such internal control as the Board of Directors determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for
assessing the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the entity or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards, we
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the
audit. We also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control.
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates and related disclosures made.
• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the entity to cease to continue as a going concern.
We communicate with the Board of Directors or its relevant committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.
We also provide the Board of Directors or its relevant committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors or its relevant
committee, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report, unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the
public interest benefits of such communication.

In the course of our audit performed in accordance with article 728a para. 1 item 3
CO and Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we noted that an internal control system for the
preparation of financial statements designed according to the instructions of the
Board of Directors was adequately documented but not implemented in all material
respects.
In our opinion, the internal control system is not in accordance with Swiss law and
accordingly we are unable to confirm the existence of the internal control system for
the preparation of the financial statements.
We recommend that the financial statements submitted to you be approved.
We also draw your attention to the fact that the General shareholders' meeting
approving the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 has not
been held within six months of the closing date, which is contrary to the provisions of
article 699 para. 2 CO.
Berney Associés Audit SA

Claude HERI

Licensed Audit Expert
Auditor in charge

Marina CHRISTE
Licensed Audit Expert
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